No.	
1 10.	

THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

FILED

Court of Appeals No. 341038

NOV 3 0 2017

Spokane Superior Court No. 15-2-00466-7

CO	OURT OF APPEALS
	DIVISION III
STA	TE OF WASHINGTON
By_	and the same of th

_	
In	ro.
111	IC.

DAVID MARTIN,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

VS.

GONZAGA UNIVERSITY,

Defendant/Respondent.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

JULIE C. WATTS/WSBA #43729
Attorney for Petitioner
108 N. Washington St., Suite 302, Spokane, WA 99201
(509) 207-7615

THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioner is DAVID MARTIN.

II. DECISION BELOW

Petitioner seeks review of the *Opinion*, entered by Division III of the Court of Appeals on September 7, 2017, and the *Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration* entered on October 31, 2017.

III. ISSUES FOR REVIEW

- A. Whether the Opinion conflicts with decisions of this Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), when it concludes that the overriding justification element of the Perritt test applies to 'whistleblower' cases.
- B. Whether the Opinion conflicts with decisions of this Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), when it concludes that summary judgment can be granted in favor of an employer based on the assertion of an overriding justification where the employer does not concede the preceding three elements of the Perritt test.
- C. Whether the Opinion conflicts with decisions of this Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), when it improperly declines to place the burden of proof with respect to the overriding justification element of the Perritt test.
- D. Whether the Opinion conflicts with decisions of this Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), when it relies on the "after-acquired evidence" doctrine to conclude that an overriding justification asserted by an employer need not have actually motivated the dismissal of the employee.
- E. Whether the Opinion conflicts with decisions of this Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), when it conflates the overriding justification element contained in the Perritt test with the federal "mixed-motive" defense, which is not recognized by Washington law.
- F. Whether the Opinion involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

FACTUAL HISTORY: Petitioner, David Martin, was a full-time employee at

Gonzaga University from January of 2008 until March of 2012. (CP 4, 13, 31, 41,

137, 150, 155, 181.) His title was Assistant Director of the Rudolf Fitness Center

(hereinafter "RFC"). (CP 13, 31, 137, 150, 162, 169, 179, 199.) In addition to

wages, Martin received other benefits, including health insurance and free tuition.

(CP 4-6, 17, 33.) Martin made use of his tuition benefit and enrolled in the

Master's program for Sports Administration at Gonzaga. (CP 5, 17, 33, 138, 152.)

The RFC provides services to students, faculty, staff, families of faculty/staff,

and members of the community; during the summer months, Gonzaga rents the

RFC to organizations such as youth camps and sports leagues. (CP 26, 50, 119.)

Unfortunately, students were routinely injured at the RFC basketball court

after accidental impact with the bare concrete walls and other unpadded surfaces

behind and around the basketball court. (CP 4, 14, 20-21, 31-32, 38, 51, 137, 204.)

Players sustained severe injuries, including concussions, head trauma, broken

bones, dislocated shoulders, and lacerations; in one case, injuries were so severe

that an ambulance was required to provide emergency care. (CP 4, 14, 31-32, 204.)

On one occasion, Martin was first on the scene to help a student, and he helped to

support a student's broken leg, which was so misshapen that the student could see

the bottom of his own shoe. (CP 204.) In addition to the risk of injury from

physical impact with unpadded surfaces, students were routinely exposed to

potential hazards resulting from pathogens contained in blood and bodily fluids of

injured students. (CP 4, 14, 26, 32, 38.).

The courts used by Gonzaga in its athletic program were equipped with

protective padding. (CP 4, 5, 14, 32.). Only the recreational court, which was

primarily used by students who were not considered student "athletes" had no

padding. (CP 5, 137.)

The unsafe condition in the basketball court had been brought to Gonzaga's

attention prior to Martin's employment. In 2004, a study had been conducted by

an outside consultant who recommended that padding should be put in the courts.

(CP 15, 20, 65-67, 70.). In 2007, another study had been conducted that again

concluded pads should be installed. (CP 15-16, 68.).

Over the course of several years, Martin repeatedly requested protective

padding for the bare concrete walls beneath the basketball hoops and other areas

where injuries frequently occurred. (CP 4-5, 14, 32, 60, 63, 74.). Gonzaga

confirmed that Martin had requested "an assessment of what the condition is and

what best practices are, what the code is, and to seek out – seek an analysis of

whether or not we had a condition that needed to be addressed.". (CP 60, 63.).

Martin was told that a request for protective padding could only be made once a

year and that Gonzaga had "difficulty" finding "justification for the investment."

(CP 4, 14, 32, 62, 111.)

Gonzaga's student newspaper began investigating the injuries being suffered

by students using the RFC basketball courts. (CP 34, 38-39, 102-107.) Martin

testified that one of his supervisors was angry about the investigation and had

engaged in inappropriate intimidation and threats to prevent the reporter and the

paper from investigating the story. (CP 103-104.) Gonzaga also acknowledged

Petition for Discretionary Review - Page 3 of 19

The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC 108 N. Washington St., Suite 302

Spokane, WA 99201

that there had been a rumor that Martin had leaked information to the newspaper.

(CP 104.)

Deeply troubled by the unsafe condition, Martin wrote a proposal as part of

his thesis project for his Master's program that would create new programs to raise

funds for the purchase of padding for the basketball court. (CP 17, 33, 39, 41, 74-

75, 102, 115, 152.) Martin spent three months preparing his proposal, after which

he showed it to his supervisor. (CP 5, 17, 33, 102, 138.) The details associated

with Martin's attempts to get his proposal into the hands of someone who could

approve it and his supervisors' attempts to take his proposal away from him make

up the bulk of the facts in this case.

No direct order of any kind was issued to Martin until he attended a meeting

with two of his supervisors, during which he was told to turn over his proposal (his

personal intellectual property) to one of his supervisors; he refused. (CP 102-103.)

Martin then requested to leave the meeting and went back to the gym. (CP 121,

191, 214-216.) He was very shaken and felt sick to his stomach, so he asked his

immediate supervisor, Ms. Radtke, if he could go home. (CP 103, 110, 154, 166,

170, 179, 192-93.) She gave him permission to leave, and Martin arranged for

another employee to cover his shift. (CP 103.) Martin then went back to Ms.

Radtke and confirmed that she would document his request and her permission to

leave. (CP 103; 192-93.) Martin called her again in the evening to make sure that

she had documented his request, and she confirmed that she had. (CP 103.)

The next morning, one of Martin's supervisors called and informed him that

he had been suspended from his employment; the supervisor told Martin that he

Petition for Discretionary Review - Page 4 of 19

The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC 108 N. Washington St., Suite 302 Spokane, WA 99201

was forbidden from contact with anyone at Gonzaga except for the Human

Resources and the supervisor, himself. (CP 122.). Martin was not given any

reason for his suspension. (CP 103.) Martin contacted Human Resources and

learned that the department was not even aware that he had been suspended and

could give him no information. (CP 103.) Five days passed before Human

Resources contacted Martin's supervisor to provide the reason for Martin's

suspension, which was purportedly for leaving work without permission. (CP

103.) Martin's supervisor told him that he would be placed on administrative leave

because he had been insubordinate by not following "appropriate protocols." (CP

122.) No information in the record identifies who made the decision to place

Martin on administrative leave.

Martin believed that his supervisors – who had obstructed his previous

requests for safety improvements – were trying to prevent him from raising his

concerns higher up the "chain of command" to avoid embarrassment and other

repercussions to themselves. (CP 34, 102-107.) Martin concluded that he would

have to submit his proposal directly to the president. *Id*.

On March 5, 2012, Martin contacted the office of the president and talked to

his executive assistant about what had happened, and she advised him to make the

president aware of what was happening. (CP 196-97.) He emailed his proposal to

the president's assistant, and, in the accompanying email, he indicated that he knew

he was putting his job in jeopardy by sending the email, but that he believed he

had to do it anyway because of how much he was concerned about making a

"better, safer environment" for the students. (CP 100.)

Petition for Discretionary Review - Page 5 of 19

The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC 108 N. Washington St., Suite 302 Spokane, WA 99201

Two days later, on March 7, a student sustained a serious head injury from

running into the bare concrete wall in the RFC basketball court; the student had to

be taken to the hospital by ambulance. (CP 38, 105.) He had a concussion and

had to receive stitches. (CP 38.) The student's father was a personal injury

attorney who later spoke to the student newspaper and relayed his concerns that no

padding had been installed in the gym where his son had been injured. (CP 38.)

The next day, Gonzaga fired Martin. (CP 105.) There was no Human

Resources representative at the meeting where Martin was terminated. (CP 202.)

During that meeting, one of Martin's supervisors told him that part of the reason

he was being dismissed was because Gonzaga believed that he had been giving

information about student injuries taking place at the RFC to the student

newspaper. (CP 34.)

After he was fired. Martin wrote a letter to the president and explained what

had happened and outlined his concerns. (CP 102-107.) He indicated that he had

been dismissed "under the pretense of insubordination," and that during his four

years at Gonzaga, he had "seen a lack of responsiveness to safety issues" at the

RFC. (CP 102.) He indicated a variety of safety concerns and noted that "repeated

requests for safety improvement have gone unaddressed under the current

organizational structure." (CP 102.) He complained that "[e]ven now we don't

have the resources to replenish first aid kits before critical items are exhausted,"

and indicated that his proposal would provide for funds so that the RFC could pay

"for our own protective equipment in the gym and not have to fight those in the

chain of command to justify funding our safety provisions." (CP 102.) He urged

Petition for Discretionary Review - Page 6 of 19

The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC 108 N. Washington St., Suite 302 Spokane, WA 99201

that "[i]t is important that I make you aware that our repeated safety concerns have

fallen on deaf ears," and confirmed that "[t]his is what prompted me to write the

proposal in the first place." (CP 102.)

Within nine months of Martin's termination, Gonzaga installed padding in the

basketball courts at the RFC. (CP 111, 122.)

PROCEDURAL HISTORY: Martin filed a complaint against Gonzaga for

wrongful discharge in violation of public policy. (CP 6-7.) Gonzaga moved for

summary judgment, arguing that Martin had failed to allege any public policy

violation by Gonzaga and that he had failed to produce sufficient circumstantial

evidence that his actions in furtherance of public policy were the cause of his

discharge. (CP 149.). The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of

Gonzaga.

Martin appealed.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court, concluding that Gonzaga's

allegation that Martin had been insubordinate, which constituted an overriding

justification even if it was not actually the reason Gonzaga dismissed Martin.

Martin sought reconsideration of the decision, and his request was denied.

Martin now seeks discretionary review by the Washington Supreme Court.

V. ARGUMENT

The Opinion in this case conflicts with decisions of this Court pursuant to RAP

13.4(b)(1), and it also involves an issue of substantial public interest that should

be determined by the Supreme Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Petition for Discretionary Review - Page 7 of 19

The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC 108 N. Washington St., Suite 302

Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 207-7615

A. The Perritt test does not apply to 'whistleblower' cases, where an employer fires an employee in retaliation for reporting employer misconduct.

The tort of wrongful discharge against public policy was recognized by this Court for the first time in *Thompson v. St. Regis Paper Co.*, 102 Wn.2d 219, 685 P.2d 1081 (1984)("[w]e join the growing majority of jurisdictions and recognize a cause of action in tort for wrongful discharge if the discharge of the employee contravenes a clear mandate of public policy"). "Following *Thompson*, the availability of the tort remained narrow and it was recognized under only four different situations:

(1) where employees are fired for refusing to commit an illegal act; (2) where employees are fired for performing a public duty or obligation, such as serving jury duty; (3) where employees are fired or exercising a legal right or privilege, such as filing workers' compensation claims; and (4) where employees are fired in retaliation for reporting employer misconduct, i.e., whistleblowing."

Rose v. Anderson Hay and Grain Comp., 184 Wn.2d 268, 275, 358 P.3d 1139 (2015); Gardner v. Loomis Armored Inc., 128 Wn.2d 931, 936, 913 P.2d 377 (1996); Dicomes v. State, 113 Wn.2d 612, 618, 782 P.2d 1002 (1986).

In these four specifically-recognized situations, an employee must simply identify the clearly recognized public policy and demonstrate that the employer contravened that policy by terminating the employee. *Rose*, 184 Wn.2d at 276.

Following the *Thompson* case, this Court looked to Professor Perritt's treatise, 'Workplace Torts: Rights and Liabilities,' for a "more refined" analysis, which it embraced in *Gardner*. *Rickman v. Premera Blue Cross*, 184 Wn.2d 300, 310, 358 P.3d 1153 (2015). The *Gardner* court addressed a situation where a public policy

tort claim did not clearly fall into one of the Thompson categories, noting that

"[p]rior cases have not demanded such a delicate balancing of interests as is

required for a proper resolution in this case." Gardner, 128 Wn.2d at 938; Rose,

184 Wn.2d at 277. This Court explicitly acknowledged that adoption of the Perritt

analysis addressed a "highly unique" situation and did not substantively change

the underlying tort requirements, explaining that "because the situation did not

involve the common retaliatory discharge scenario, it demanded a more refined

analysis." Rose, 184 Wn.2d at 277. This Court also clarified that because previous

common law already contained clarity and jeopardy elements, prior decisions

remained good law. Id. at 278.

The Perritt test has four parts: "(1) the existence of a clear public policy (the

clarity element); (2) discouraging the conduct in which the plaintiff engaged would

jeopardize the public policy (the *jeopardy* element); (3) the public-policy-linked

conduct caused the dismissal (the causation element); and (4) the employer has

not offered an overriding justification for the dismissal of the plaintiff (the absence

of justification element)." Rickman, 184 Wn.2d at 310; Gardner, 128 Wn.2d at

941. The fourth element, "overriding justification," while part of the Perritt

analysis, is *not* an element of the previously-established *Thompson* framework.

In later opinions, this Court explained that the Perritt test applies only where a

public policy tort claim does not fall into one of the four categories "easily resolved

under the Thompson framework." Rose, 184 Wn.2d at 286-87. In the Rose case,

where the employee's claim fell into one of the specifically-recognized situations,

this Court concluded that the employee had met his burden to establish a prima

Petition for Discretionary Review - Page 9 of 19

The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC 108 N. Washington St., Suite 302

Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 207-7615

facie case without resorting to analysis under the Perritt factors, saying "when the facts do not fit neatly into one of the four above-described categories, a more refined analysis may be necessary," and it is "in those circumstances, the courts should look to the four-part Perritt test for guidance." <u>Id</u>. The Rose court concluded that such guidance "is unnecessary here" because the facts of the case fell directly within a specifically-recognized category of wrongful discharge in violation of public policy claims. <u>Id</u>. at 287. Rose issued a clear directive that

lower courts are not to apply the Perritt factors to 'whistleblower' cases.

While the Opinion in this case explicitly acknowledged that Martin had asserted a whistleblower claim, it did not conduct any analysis with respect to this issue. In fact, it made no comment regarding the *Thompson* framework at all; rather, it immediately applied the Perritt test. *Opinion*, pg. 26. In doing so, the Opinion overlooked this Court's clear directive in *Rose*. If Martin's assertion is correct and the termination of his employment was a retaliatory discharge for reporting employer misconduct, then the Perritt test and its overriding justification element do not apply to his claim. The Opinion's inappropriate application of the Perritt test to a claim that is properly analyzed under the *Thompson* framework directly conflicts with the published opinions of this Court.

B. Summary judgment cannot be granted in favor of an employer based on the assertion of an overriding justification unless the employer first concedes the preceding three elements of the Perritt test.

It is Martin's position on appeal that the overriding justification element of the Perritt test does not apply to his case; however, should this Court conclude otherwise, it nevertheless remains that the Opinion misapplied it.

Petition for Discretionary Review - Page 10 of 19

The overriding justification element of the Perritt test balances the jeopardized public policy interests established by an employee against the special business interests asserted by an employer to determine whether the employer had an overriding justification for dismissing the employee based on public-policy-protected conduct. *Gardner*, 128 Wn.2d at 941. Such a balancing test *necessarily* assumes an employee's dismissal was related to public-policy-protected conduct. As the *Gardner* court explained, the overriding justification inquiry addresses the fact that "some public policies, even if clearly mandated, are not strong enough to

At the summary judgment stage, therefore, an employer must concede the first three elements of the Perritt test before it can assert an overriding justification. Where an employer's assertions dispute that dismissal was related to public-policy-protected conduct, a court has no established public policy interest to balance, and summary judgment cannot be granted. The first three factors of the Perritt test must be resolved before any balancing test can occur. 2017).

warrant interfering with employer's personnel management." Id. at 947.

Professor Perritt himself, the scholar who designed the four-part test, has provided guidance for its use, and his writings confirm the preceding analysis:

"Circumstances may arise, especially in the internal public policy category defined in §§ 7.09[C] through 7.09[D][5], in which the employer does not deny that the determining factor or dominant reason for the dismissal was the employee's public-policy-linked

¹ Professor Perritt explains 'internal public policy' tort cases as "disputes wholly internal to the workplace, as contrasted with dismissals arising from conduct outside, and unrelated to, the workplace," saying that "most internal public policy tort cases involve employee objections to employer policies." Henry H. Perritt, Jr., Workplace Torts: Rights and Liabilities, pg. 99 (1991).

conduct but asserts that legitimate business reasons nevertheless outweigh the public policy and justify the dismissal. This is the overriding justification or business necessity defense. The justification issue presents this fact question: was there a business necessity for discharging the plaintiff, even if protected conduct as the reason for the dismissal. Protected conduct is involved only if both the clarity and jeopardy elements of the public policy tort have been resolved in the plaintiff's favor.

This defense differs from the mixed-motive problem addressed in § 7.07[B]. In the mixed-motive case, the employer asserts that the real motive for the dismissal had nothing to do with public policy. In the business necessity case, the employer admits that the dismissal related to conduct protected by public policy but asserts the employer's interests in the circumstances should override the jeopardy to public policy."

Henry H. Perritt, Jr., <u>Workplace Torts: Rights and Liabilities</u>, §7.08 (Supp. 2017)(emphasis added).

The Opinion's analysis of the Perritt test in the present case directly conflicts with a wide breadth of well-established Washington law as published by this Court. The Opinion misapplies the overriding justification element, and further, the eight questions it proposes in its analysis aptly demonstrate the quixotic quagmire that is the result of attempting to balance interests that have not been established. Just as troubling, the Opinion's effort to force the resolution of factual issues that are not properly decided on appeal involved inappropriate credibility determinations, mischaracterizations of the record, the construal of facts and inferences in the light most favorable to the *moving* party, and reliance on anonymous hearsay statements that would be inadmissible at trial. This methodology directly conflicts with the well-established Washington law governing appeals as published by this Court.²

² These errors were presented in significant detail in Petitioner's Motion for Reconsideration, which was subsequently denied. The motion is included in the appendix

C. The Opinion improperly declines to place the burden of proof with respect to the overriding justification element of the Perritt test.

In cases where the Perritt framework applies, an employee is obligated to establish the first three factors (clarity, causation, and jeopardy), after which "the burden shifts to the employer to show that the termination was justified by an overriding consideration." *Rickman*, 184 Wn.2d at 314; citing *Gardner*, 128 Wn.2d at 947-50. "To satisfy the burden of production, the employer must articulate a legitimate nonpretextual, nonretaliatory reason for the discharge." *Wilmot v. Kaiser Aluminum and Chemical Corp.*, 118 Wn.2d 46, 70, 821 P.2d 18 (1991), citing 1 L. Larson, unjust Dismissal § 6.05 (1988). The employer must produce relevant admissible evidence of another motivation. *Id*.

Professor Perritt provides guidance on this subject as well:

"[I]f the employer admits protected conduct was the determining factor in the dismissal but defends on business necessity grounds, the employer should have the burden of persuasion on the defense. In effect, the employer is saying that something special about its business gives it an interest strong enough to override public policy, even though the plaintiff met her burden on all three elements of the public policy tort. The evidence of the special circumstances of the employer's business would be within the employer's control. Therefore, it is fair to put the burden of production on the employer. The burden of persuasion also should be placed on the employer because the proposition advanced by the employer is disfavored as contrary to public policy and is counterintuitive.

The types of factual inquiry in a public policy tort business necessity case are similar to those in statutory bona fide occupation qualification or business necessity cases. In both, the strength of the employer's asserted business necessity defense turns on facts such as the disruption to the employer's business that would result from permitting the plaintiff employee's conduct

to this petition.

to continue and the availability of measures other than dismissal, such as transferring the employee to another part of the

employer's business to reduce the business impact of the

employee's conduct.

Henry H. Perritt, Jr., Workplace Torts: Rights and Liabilities, §7.08 (Supp.

2010)(emphasis added).

The Opinion cites to *Rickman* for the proposition that "once a plaintiff fulfills

the clarity element and a question of fact remains as to the jeopardy and causation

elements, the burden shifts to the employer to show an overriding justification for

the employee's discharge." *Opinion*, pg. 37. But this is an inaccurate restatement

of Rickman, and here we see the Opinion's first misstep in laying the groundwork

for its subsequent analysis. Rickman holds that "[o]nce a plaintiff present a prima

facie case of wrongful discharge in violation of public policy, the burden of proof

shifts to the employer to show the termination was justified by an overriding

consideration." Rickman, 184 Wn.2d at 314 (emphasis added). To require the

establishment of a prima facie case prior to shifting the burden to the employer on

the overriding justification element is to assume, for the purposes of summary

judgment, that the questions of fact as to the first three elements have been resolved

in the manner most favorable to the employee.

Here, the Opinion did not do that; rather, it acknowledged the existing

questions of fact as to two of the three preceding elements, and then it imported

those questions of fact into its analysis of the fourth element and attempted to

resolve them as a matter of law pursuant to its balancing test. This results in an

analysis that subsumes the elements of causation and jeopardy into the element of

Petition for Discretionary Review - Page 14 of 19

The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC 108 N. Washington St., Suite 302 Spokane, WA 99201

overriding justification. Ironically, this is the same error that was corrected by the

Rickman court, which clearly indicated that the overriding justification element

should not be confused with causation. Rickman, 184 Wn.2d at 314 ("This

argument seems to blend the separate issues of causation and overriding

justification...").

While the Opinion acknowledges the lack of clarity in Washington law with

respect to the shifting burdens of production and persuasion related to the

overriding justification element, it does not attempt to clarify this area. Instead,

the Opinion states that "[w]e need not identify the bearer or resolve the nature of

the burden of proof, because, no matter who carries the burden and the extent of

the burden, we hold that Gonzaga University is entitled to summary judgment on

the justification element." Opinion, pg. 38.

The Court of Appeals is not entitled to simply ignore the burden of proof in

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