L  IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The respondent is Gonzaga University ("Gonzaga").

II. DECISION BELOW

The Court should deny Martin's Petition for Review pursuant to

RAP 13.4(1) and (4) because the decision of the Court of Appeals, in

particular Justice Pennell's concurring opinion which was joined by Justice

Korsmo in his concurring in part and dissenting in part opinion, is not in

conflict with a decision of this Court and the petition does not involve an

issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Court.

In its Answer Gonzaga is specifically asking this Court to address

an assignment of error and issue not raised in Martin's Petition for Review:

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

V. Argument

1. The Court should deny Martin's Petition for Review under RAP
13.4(1) because the Court of Appeal's decision does not conflict
with a decision of this Court.

The Court in denying the Petition for Review should focus on

Justice Pennell's concurring opinion which was joined by Justice Korsmo.

There is nothing in the text of Justice Pennell's concurring opinion which

conflicts with the prior decisions of this Court. See Appendix A. Justice

Pennell's concurring opinion pg. 1-3

It is undisputed Martin was an at-will employee. Thompson v. St.

Regis Paper Company, 102 Wash.2d 209, 222 (1984). ("Generally, an

employment contract, indefinite as to duration, is terminable at will by

either the employee or employer.") (Citing Roberts v. Arco, 88 Wash.2d

887, 894(1977).

The Washington Supreme Court in Thompson adopted for the first

time a "narrow public policy exception" to the at-will employment doctrine

which precluded even at-will employees from being terminated either with

or without cause in some limited situations. Thompson, at 222.

10



The Court has addressed the situation where the public policy tort

claim can arise where an employee is fired in retaliation for reporting

employer misconduct, i.e., whistleblowing. Dicomesv. State, 113 Wash.2d

612,618(1989)

A. Clarity Element

The Thompson court and its progeny have made clear the employee

has the burden initially of proving the "existence of a clear public policy

(the clarity element)". Thompson, at 232; Gardner, at 941

Martin alleges he was wrongfully terminated. There is no evidence

in the record that Martin acted in furtherance of public policy. Id. at 222;

Rickman v. Premera Blue Cross, 184 Wash.2d 300, 313 (2015)

Martin was obligated to present sufficient evidence to survive

summary judgment that his "conduct furthers public policy goals." See

Gardner v. Loomis Armored, Inc., 128 Wash.2d 931, 945 (1996) (finding

employees must show "they engaged in particular conduct," which "directly

relates to the public policy"); Thompson, 102 Wash.2d at 232 (finding the

employee must demonstrate the dismissal violates a clear mandate of public

policy). Martin must show that he "sought to further the public good, and

not merely private or proprietary interests." Dicomes v. State, 113 Wash.2d

at 620; compare Bennett v. Hardy, 113 Wash.2d 912, 924-25 (1990)

11



(allowing a claim when the employee hired an attorney to protect himself

from discrimination, an act for which she was later fired), with Farnam v.

CRISTA Ministries, 116 Wash.2d 659, 672 (1991) (finding the employee

did not seek to further the public good because she knew the employer's

conduct did not violate the law).

Martin failed to present sufficient evidence that he acted in

furtherance of public policy. Thompson, at 222. The email communications

from Martin to Mr. Standiford fail to mention anything remotely related to

Martin furthering the public good. CP 114-115

The omission on Martin's part was noted in Justice PennelTs

concurring opinion affirming summary judgment dismissal for Gonzaga.^

Martin also acknowledged there was no legal requirement to put

padding on the walls of the Fitness Center. CP 111, 206; Farnam, at 672

(nurse unsuccessfully claimed retaliatory wrongful discharge when fired for

complaining to the media about the nursing home's legal practice of

removing food tubes from terminally ill patients.)

B. Causation Element

^ Although Justice Pennell did not specifically mention that summary
judgment was appropriate on the clarity element, she did note that Martin's
emails "mentioned nothing about gymnasium padding or student safety."
See Appendix A. concurring opinion of Justice Pennell at pg. 1.

12



Justice Pennell's concurring opinion which was joined hy Justiee

Korsmo also does not confliet with prior decisions of this Court on the

element of causation in wrongful discharge eases. See Appendix A. Justiee

Pennell's eoncurring opinion pg. 1 and Justiee Korsmo's eoneurring and

dissenting opinion, in part, pg. 1.

Martin was also obligated to produee suffieient evidence at time of

summary judgment that the actions he took in furthering an alleged public

policy was the eause of his firing. The legal test is whether Martin's alleged

furtheranee of a publie poliey was a "substantial faetor" for his termination.

Rickman, at 314

Martin alleges a substantial factor for his termination was his actions

in raising safety issues pertaining to the lack of padding on the walls of the

Fitness Center. This assertion is not supported by any evidenee in the

reeord. See Justiee Pennell's eoneurring opinion pg. 1-3.

What the reeord does reflect is the laek of padding was an issue that

was discussed dating back to 2004 among Gonzaga administrators and

employees. CP 163

The reeord substantiates Martin's termination of his at-will

employment for legitimate reasons. Martin had been eounseled in the past

13



by Dr. Hernandez relating to his inability to get along with others. CP 111,

119-120, 134-135, 190, 199, 206

Later, Martin engaged in insubordination on February 29, 2012, by

refusing to follow the directive of Mr. Standiford relating to his pool

proposal. CP 109,114,183-184,213

Martin then engaged in additional acts of insubordination both

during and after the March 1, 2012 meeting with Dr. Hernandez and Mr.

Morgan which caused Martin to be placed on administrative leave. CP 121,

191-193,216

Finally, after being placed on administrative leave Martin violated

the terms of his leave by contacting the assistant to the President of Gonzaga

to attempt to schedule a meeting with the President for the purpose of

presenting his pool proposal outside the chain of command and against the

prior directive of Mr. Standiford and HR. CP 95-96,110,167,195-197

2. The Court should deny Martin's Petition for Review because it
does not involve an issue of substantial public interest.

The Court should also deny Martin's petition because it does not

involve an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(4)

14



Unlike the past decisions of the Court that clarified the jeopardy

element of the tort of wrongful discharge in Washington^ this case does not

rise to this level.

This is a garden variety wrongful discharge case that does not

present any conflicting legal issues that need to be resolved by this Court.

3. The Court should grant Gonzaga's Petition for Review on the
issue of whether the Court of Appeals errored in reversing the
trial court's grant of summary judgment on Martin's claim
under RCW 49.12,250.

The Court should grant Gonzaga's Petition for Review relating to

the Court of Appeals reversal of the trial court's summary judgment

dismissal on Martin's claim under RCW 49.12.250. The Court should

reverse the Court of Appeals based upon the analysis set forth in Justice

Korsmo's dissenting opinion because the Court of Appeals decision

reversing the trial court, in part, conflicts with prior precedent of this Court

and the Court of Appeals relating to statutory construction and the plain

meaning rule. Therefore, Gonzaga's Petition for Review on this assignment

of error should be granted under RAP 13.4(1) and (2).

^ See Rose v. Anderson Hay and Grain Co., 184 Wash.2d 268 (2015);
Rickman v. Premera Blue Cross, 184 Wash. 2d 300 (2015); and Becker v.
Community Health Systems, Inc., 184 Wash.2d 252 (2015).

15



Under prior Supreme Court precedent, the "[c]onstruction of a

statute is a question oflaw reviewed de novo." State v. Wentz, 149Wash.2d

342,346 (2003). "A court interpreting a statute must discem and implement

the legislature's intent." State v. J.P., 149 Wash.2d 444, 450 (2003).

Pursuant to the plain meaning rule of statutory construction, "[w]here the

plain language of a statute is imambiguous and legislative intent is

apparent," the courts "will not construe the statute otherwise." Nat'I Elec.

Contractors Ass'n v. Riveland, 138 Wash.2d 9, 19 (1999). "Plain meaning

may be gleaned 'from all that the Legislature has said in the statute and

related statutes which disclose legislative intent about the provision in

question.'" Dep't ofEcology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC, 146 Wash.2d 1,

11 (2002) (citing Cockle v. Dep 't of Labor & Indus., 142 Wash.2d 801, 808

(2001).

Gonzaga's petition also "involves an issue of substantial public

interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(4)

The issue is whether a separate cause of action exists under RCW

49.12.250. Gonzaga is not aware of any prior decision of this Court relating

to this issue.

The statute, in relevant part, provides an employer shall make the

personnel files of the employee available within a reasonable period of time

16



after the employee requests the personnel file. Gonzaga satisfied Martin's

request after he was terminated even though he was no longer an employee

of Gonzaga. While the statute references making the file "available" it does

not command that an actual copy be provided. ROW 49.12.250; CP 211

The statute does not provide any type of remedial scheme within the

judicial system even in the event of a violation of ROW 49.12.250. The

employee may make a complaint with the DLL If a complaint is made DLI

will determine whether the employee is entitled to the rights set out in RCW

49.12.240-260. DLI takes no enforcement position pertaining to disputes

over the contents of a persormel file. Martin never made a complaint to

DLL Administrative Policy State of Washington Department of Labor and

Industries Employment Standards Title: Employee Access to Personnel

File, Number: ES.C.7, Chapter: RCW 49.12.240, .250, .260, Issued:

1/2/2002.

Justice Korsmo's analysis and opinion is correct and should be

adopted by this Court:

Nothing in the statutes or the associated administrative code
suggests that Mr. Martin's persormel file claim currently is justiciable. We
should not accidentally create a new cause of action by remanding this issue
to superior court. The trial judge correctly dismissed the claim at summary
judgment.

See Appendix A. Judge Korsmo's dissenting opinion pg. 3.

17



VI. Conclusion

The Court should deny Martin's petition and grant Gonzaga's

petition relating to its assignment of error on Martin's claim under RCW

49.12.250.

Or^..3a■4Lla ■'-g.